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1.  Nature of the Motion.  



This is a motion to dismiss for failure to state an offense.  R.C.M. 907(b)(1)(B).  The sole charge and specification in this case alleges violation of a general order that is not a lawful order.  The burden is on the defense by a preponderance of the evidence.  R.C.M. 905(c).  

2.  Summary of Facts.  


a.  The charge sheet in this case contains one charge and one specification of violating Article 92, Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ).  The charge and its sole specification stem from the general order against use, possession or distribution of “spice:” U.S. Marine Corps Forces, Pacific Order (MARFORPACO) 5355.2, dated 1 December 2009.  


b.  MARFORPACO 5355.2’s subject line reads: “Prohibited Substances.”  It purports to outlaw possession, use, and distribution of “Spice.”  “Spice” is described in paragraph 1 of the order as “a mixture of medicinal herbs laced with synthetic cannabinoids or cannabinoid mimicking compounds.”  The order contains an enclosure entitled “Prohibited Substances and Their Common Street-Names” which lists eight alleged versions of “spice,” namely “Genie,” “K2,” “Skunk,” “Spice Diamond,” Spice Gold,” Spice Silver,” “Yucatan Fire,” and “Zohai.”

c.  Lance Corporal (LCpl) [CLIENT] is alleged to have distributed “spice.”  The sole charge and specification provides no additional detail than the term “spice” to describe the alleged misconduct.


d.  “Spice” is colloquially used, without specificity, to describe a plethora of herbal incense blends sold online and in Japan.  The marketing for these some of these substances indicates that they are intended to be smoked.

3.  Discussion.  


MARFORPACO 5355.2 dated 1 December 2009, signed by Colonel (Col) Raymond F. L’Heureux, is void for vagueness, both on its face and as applied in this case.  At the time of the signing of the order, Col L’Heureux was the Chief of Staff, Marine Corps Forces Pacific.  Lieutenant General (LtGen) Keith J. Stalder was the Commanding General, Marine Corps Forces Pacific.  In addition, LtGen Stalder attempts to regulate conduct without a valid military purpose in this order.  For both reasons - because the order is void for vagueness and because it has no valid military purpose – MARFORPACO 5355.2 is not a lawful general order.  The charge and its sole specification fail to state an offense because they allege violation of an unlawful general order.  


a.  MARFORPACO 5355.2 is Void for Vagueness On Its Face


MARFORPACO 5355.2 fails to put any servicemember on notice of what conduct LtGen Stalder sought to prohibit when Col L’Heureux signed this order.  Because the order is unconstitutionally vague on its face, it violates LCpl [CLIENT]’s constitutional right to due process.  The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides: “No person shall be ... deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.”  The Supreme Court has stated that “[i]t is a basic principle of due process that an enactment is void for vagueness if its prohibitions are not clearly defined.”  Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108 (1972).


The Supreme Court established a two-part test to determine whether a given criminal statute is void for vagueness: “the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.”  Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983) (citing Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, 455 U.S. 489 (1982); Smith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566 (1974); Grayned, 408 U.S. 104; Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156 (1972); Connally v. General Construction Co., 269 U.S. 385 (1926)).  These two concerns – fair notice and adequate enforcement standards – are somewhat intertwined, but the Supreme Court treats them as two separate points of analysis and regards the law enforcement standard to be the more important of the two questions.  Kolendar, 461 U.S. at 358.   


In Parker v. Levy, the Supreme Court stated: “Because of the factors differentiating military society from civilian society, we hold that the proper standard for review for a vagueness challenge to the articles of the Code is the standard which applies to criminal statutes regulating economic affairs.”  417 U.S. 733, 756 (1974).  At issue in Parker v. Levy was a free speech question.  The Supreme Court stated that the typical standard for free speech would not apply in this case.  Instead, the Supreme Court referenced the standard for economic regulation, which states that there is “strong presumptive validity” to an act of Congress, much like the strong presumptive validity in the military regarding general orders.
  Id. at 757.  


Kolendar, the seminal Supreme Court case cited above for the vagueness two-pronged test, addresses a California loitering statute.  461 U.S. 352.  Some of the cases cited in Kolendar are similarly unrelated to free speech issues.  For instance, Village of Hoffman Estates, 455 U.S. 489, challenges an ordinance regarding sale of real estate and Papachristou, 405 U.S. 156, challenges a city vagrancy ordinance.  The real estate ordinance in Village of Hoffman Estates underwent “economic” analysis by the Supreme Court.  455 U.S. at 498-99.  The vagueness test in that case was cited in support of the test as articulated in Kolendar.  A more stringent test applies to free speech cases.  Village of Hoffman Estates, 455 U.S. at 499.
The standard in Kolendar is the appropriate standard for evaluating void for vagueness questions in the military.  See United States v. Pope, 63 M.J. 68, 78-80 (C.A.A.F. 2006) (Erdmann, J., dissenting).  The Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces (CAAF) in United States v. Moore, citing Parker v. Levy, described the test as follows: “Void for vagueness simply means that criminal responsibility should not attach where one could not reasonably understand that his or her contemplated conduct is proscribed.”  58 M.J. 466, 469 (C.A.A.F. 2003).  It appears that CAAF disposed of the second prong of the vagueness test despite the Supreme Court’s assertion that it was the more important prong.  Defense counsel will address both prongs of the test below because Judge Erdmann cites the two-pronged test and not a single-pronged test in his 2006 dissent. 

The defense has provided appendices to this motion with internet printouts and articles related to “spice” and its various alleged permutations.  These exhibits are intended to illustrate how difficult it is to use the term “spice” to describe something discrete and specific.  No service member could know by looking at the order which herbal incense blends are legal or illegal according to MARFORPACO 5355.2, other than those listed in enclosure (1) which contains eight ‘also known as’ names for “spice.”  Nowhere in the order does it mention the name “Shangri-La,” the product LCpl [CLIENT] allegedly distributed.  Furthermore, “Shangri-La” or its packaging does not contain the word “spice” or any permutation thereof.  MARFORPACO 5355.2 states that its purpose is to “prohibit the possession, sale, use or distribution of substances which are intended to produce a psychotropic ‘high’ when ingested or smoked.”  “Psychotropic” is defined simply as “acting on the mind” according to Merriam-Webster’s Medical Dictionary, 2002 Ed.  Alcohol and tobacco act on the mind, but one would presume that this order does not purport to regulate their consumption.  
Some samples of “spice” have been shown to contain HU-210, a Schedule I controlled substance in the United States pursuant to 21 U.S. Code §801, et. seq.  For that reason, regulating “spice” could be done through enforcement of Article 112a, UCMJ.  If MARFORPACO 5355.2 purports to prohibit only HU-210 or other synthetic cannabinoids that are listed on the Drug Enforcement Agency’s drug schedules, then it would amount to an unlawful order because that misconduct is already proscribed elsewhere.
  However, that is probably not the intent of the order.  If the order is meant to proscribe more than just HU-210, what are the limits to its reach?
  MARFORPACO 5355.2 itself provides no guidance in answering that question.  The synthetic cannabinoids vaguely mentioned in MARFORPACO 5355.2 are, in fact, discrete chemical compounds
 for which suspected “spice” can be tested, including: 
· CP 47,497 (2-[(1R,3S)-3-hydroxycyclohexyl]-5-(2-methyloctan-2-yl)phenol)) 

· CP 55,940 (2-[(1R,2R,5R)-5-hydroxy-2-(3-hydroxypropyl) cyclohexyl]-5-(2-methyloctan-2-yl)phenol)
· HU-210 (6aR,10aR)-9-(hydroxymethyl)-6,6-dimethyl-3-(2-methyloctan-2-yl)-6a,7,10,10a-tetrahydrobenzo[c]chromen-1-ol)
· HU-211 (dexanabinol, (6aS,10aS)-9-(hydroxymethyl)-6,6-dimethyl-3-(2-methyloctan-2-yl)
-6a,7,10,10a-tetrahydrobenzo[c]chromen-1-ol) 
· JWH-018 (1-pentyl-3-(1-naphthoyl)indole)

· JWH-073 (naphthalen-1-yl-(1-butylindol-3-yl)methanone)
· JWH-081 (4-methoxynaphthalen- 1-yl- (1-pentylindol- 3-yl)methanone)

· JWH-210 (4-ethylnaphthalen-1-yl-(1-pentylindol-3-yl)methanone)

As such, the “fair notice” prong is not satisfied by MARFORPACO 5355.2.  A Marine looking at the various options for sale online and in Japan cannot know what is lawful and what is not lawful to use, possess or distribute.  
The second “adequate enforcement standards” prong is equally problematic in this case.  Nothing in the order helps to ensure uniform enforcement and prevents against arbitrary enforcement, as required by the Supreme Court.    

The order itself provides no guidance regarding law enforcement standards.  The Supreme Court was particularly worried about “a standardless sweep” by law enforcement officials and prosecutors.  Smith, 415 U.S. at 575.  Commanding Officers (COs) are punishing Marines under this order for using “Spice Silver,” “Spice Genie,” “Spice Diamond,” “Spice Tropical Synergy,” “Dragon Herbal Incense,” and “Geronimo,” to name a few.  While no list of brand names could be exhaustive on an order, COs are doing such a sweep, calling anything that is dried, brown, and leafy “spice” and using that determination to punish Marines under this order when there are sufficient means to avoid such a sweep.  If tobacco were repackaged in a shiny gold bag labeled “spice,” could a Marine receive nonjudicial punishment for its possession, use or distribution?  


The standards applied in military case law are precisely the standards explained above.  The Navy-Marine Corps Court of Criminal Appeals (NMCCA) addressed a similar issue regarding a Navy Regulation in United States v. Cochrane, 60 M.J. 632 (N-M.C.C.A. 2004).  The NMCCA said “[t]o be valid, a military order ‘must be a clear and specific mandate... worded so as to make it specific, definite, and certain.’” Id. at 634 (quoting United States v. Womack, 29 MJ 88, 90 (CMA 1989)).  NMCCA also stated that “[a]lthough general orders and regulations are not in and of themselves statutes, when a violation occurs and is charged under Article 92... such orders and regulations are subject to the same rules of construction as are statutes and the punitive articles of the UCMJ.” Id. (citing Womack, 29 M.J. at 91).  


In Cochrane, NMCCA reviewed Secretary of the Navy Instruction (SECNAVINST) 5300.28C for vagueness.  Electronic Technician Third Class (ETT3) Cochrane pled guilty to mixing a variety of chemicals with the intent to become intoxicated.  His actions were in direct contravention of regulation.  His use was wrongful because it was not an authorized use of the chemicals and because it was done with the intent to become intoxicated.  NMCCA found no vagueness in the regulation as applied specifically to ETT3 Cochrane.  Id. at 635.  It is important to note that Cochrane was only decided “as applied,” and that the appeal resulted from a guilty plea.  See also United States v. Dutton, 2008 WL 2890977 (N-M.C.C.A. 2008) (citing Cochrane in a guilty plea for unauthorized use of prescription medication); cf. United States v. Lancaster, 36 M.J. 1116 (A.F.C.M.R. 1993).  The court in Cochrane likely recognized the logical inconsistency with overturning an otherwise provident guilty plea for vagueness using the “as applied” standard.  

The charge and the sole specification alleged against LCpl [CLIENT] are distinguishable.  MARFORPACO 5355.2 does not prohibit a broad category of substances because of their effects.  Rather, it publishes a specific list of substances to be regulated.  The order purports to list these substances with specificity.  Some of the substances listed are reasonably specific.  For instance, salvia divinorum is the organic chemical underpinning for a drug that is sold under a variety of names, but can eventually be traced back to this plant.  If a substance tests positive for salvia, then it is salvia and the order proscribes its use.  However the charge and specifications against LCpl [CLIENT] allege nothing more than “wrongfully distributing ‘spice.’”  LCpl [CLIENT] still does not know precisely what he is alleged to have been distributing.  

On 23 February 2010, Lieutenant Colonel (LTC) T. Mark Kulish, U.S. Army, the military judge in the case of United States v. Swinford, dismissed a charge and its specifications for vagueness because they were based on a similar Army order.  That decision is appended to this motion.
  

LTC Kulish points to both the U.S. Air Force’s 18th Wing order and MARFORPAC 5355.2 as “attempts to offer some objective definition whereby presence or absence of the prohibited substance can be verified.”   United States v. Swinford, Military Judge’s Ruling on Motion to Dismiss at 7.  LTC Kulish went on to state that:

Such standards are particularly critical in the case of prohibited substances... Substances can be packaged with or without markings and (as the MARFORPAC order makes clear) can be referred to by, or can be physically labeled with, a wide variety of names. A reasonable Soldier’s possession, use or distribution of such a substance cannot be measured against an objective and clear standard unless the physical composition of the prohibited substance is somehow defined in the order which prohibits it.  

Id. at 8.  


While MARFORPACO 5355.2 does go into some more detail than the Army order, it does not go far enough and should be found to be void for vagueness on its face.  


b.  MARFORPACO 5355.2 is Void for Vagueness As Applied

MARFORPACO 5355.2 is void for vagueness on its face.  However, if the military judge does not believe that it is void on its face, it is certainly void as applied in this case.  The sole specification do not place LCpl [CLIENT] on notice, as described supra, of what substance he is alleged to have been involved with.  If this were an Article 112a charge, the government would have to specify a substance on the Controlled Substances List and the schedule on which the substance is named.  Analogous standards should apply to cases involving “spice.”  

c.  MARFORPACO 5355.2 Has No Valid Military Purpose


Article 92, UCMJ provides the rule for determining whether an order is lawful.  In Article 92(c)(1)(C), lawfulness is defined as follows: “A general order or regulation is lawful unless it is contrary to the Constitution, the laws of the United States, or lawful superior orders or for some other reason is beyond the authority of the official issuing it.  See the discussion of lawfulness in paragraph 14c(2)(a).”  Paragraph 14 c(2)(a) is the discussion of lawful orders is Article 90, which will be discussed further in depth below.  It provides the “valid military purpose” rule.  


From the definition in Article 92, there seem to be four distinct reasons that an order could be deemed “unlawful.”  The defense concedes that nothing in the Constitution directly forbids this type of regulation, except for the due process questions already discussed above.  This order is unlawful because it contravenes the laws of the United States, because it contravenes other lawful superior orders and because it contravenes the case law expounding on paragraph 14c(2)(a).  

i. The Law in the United States

There is no law that prohibits the use of “spice” in the United States.  There is a law prohibiting the possession of HU-210, a schedule I controlled substance.  However, nothing has been shown that all samples of “spice,” or more importantly the one allegedly distributed by LCpl [CLIENT], contain the prohibited substance.  Therefore, the order issued by LtGen Stalder directly contradicts the law in the United States.
ii. Superior Orders and Regulations

SECNAVINST 5300.28D regulates drug use in the Navy and the Marine Corps.  The order states in paragraph 5.c:

The unlawful use by persons in the DON of controlled substance analogues (designer drugs), natural substances (e.g., fungi, excretions), chemicals (e.g., chemicals wrongfully used as inhalants), propellants, and/or a prescribed or over-the-counter drug or pharmaceutical compound, with the intent to induce intoxication, excitement, or stupefaction of the central nervous system, is prohibited and will subject the violator to punitive action under the UCMJ or adverse administrative action or both.
As discussed above and below, there was nothing “unlawful” about the use of “spice” before 1 December 2009 in Japan or in the United States.  Even after 1 December 2009, there is nothing unlawful in the United States about smoking “spice,” as long as it does not contain HU-210.  In addition, smoking “spice” is one of its intended uses, so it does not fall into the same category as inhalants or other wrongfully used but otherwise legal substances.  There is no reliable information regarding whether “spice” actually creates “intoxication, excitement or stupefaction.”  There is very little reliable information about “spice,” period.  

SECNAVINST 5300.28D does not prohibit possession or distribution of anything.  Instead, it is targeted purely at use.  One would presume that if the Secretary of the Navy wanted to make it illegal to possess or distribute these substances, he could have.  SECNAVINST 5300.28D describes precisely what is, and what is not, illegal in the Department of the Navy.  LtGen Stalder overstepped his authority when he signed an order that encroached on the balance struck by the Secretary of the Navy.  


United States v. Green addresses this problem in the Army context.  22 M.J. 711 (A.C.M.R. 1986).  At issue in Green were a Department of the Army regulation regarding alcohol consumption and a more stringent Fort Stewart regulation.  The court held that “a local regulation must not be arbitrary or unreasonable and it cannot conflict with or detract from the scope or effectiveness of Department of the Army provisions on the same subject.”  Id. at 718; see also United States v. Cowan, 47 C.M.R. 519, 521 (A.C.M.R. 1973).  In Green, the more stringent regulation was declared invalid because it conflicted with the Army Regulation, despite it merely further restricting the behavior.  


In this case, LtGen Stalder did not have the authority to regulate “spice” because the Secretary of the Navy has preempted such an order in SECNAVINST 5300.29D.
iii. MCBJO Has No Valid Military Purpose 

Paragraph 14c(2)(a)(iv) of Part IV of the UCMJ states that for an order to be a lawful order: 

The order must relate to military duty, which includes all activities reasonably necessary to accomplish a military mission, or safeguard or promote the morale, discipline, and usefulness of members of a command and directly connected with the maintenance of good order in the service. The order may not, without such a valid military purpose, interfere with private rights or personal affairs.  However, the dictates of a person’s conscience, religion, or personal philosophy cannot justify or excuse the disobedience of an otherwise lawful order. Disobedience of an order which has for its sole object the attainment of some private end, or which is given for the sole purpose of increasing the penalty for an offense which it is expected the accused may commit, is not punishable under this article.
MARFORPACO 5355.2 is too broad to serve such a valid military purpose.


The above-cited paragraph requires that an order be directly connected to military service and it also provides that commanders cannot regulate “the attainment of some private end.”  Thus, the commanding officer must be able to show that there is an effect on performance of duty or some other detriment to good order and discipline from the use, possession, or distribution of “spice.”
  MARFORPACO 5355.2 is too vague when trying to explain its military purpose.  The order avers that “spice” is “known to cause decreased motor function, loss of concentration, and impairment of short-term memory.”  The next-to-last sentence in paragraph 1 goes on to allege that “Based on the known effects of these substances [“spice” and salvia divinorum], it is likely that users will suffer adverse physical reactions or engage in unlawful conduct due to impaired judgment.”  However, these assertions are pure conjecture.  No one has proven that “spice” has those effects.  The synthetic cannabinoids listed above may have that effect, but broadly ascribing the reactions of those chemicals to a generic name such as “spice” fails to describe the valid military purpose with sufficient granularity.

The Air Force Court of Military Review (AFCMR) articulated a useful three-part test for determining whether an order is lawful: “The order must be reasonably in furtherance of or connected to military needs, specific as to time and place and definite and certain in describing the thing or act to be done or omitted, and not otherwise contrary to established law or regulation.”  United States v. Spencer, 29 M.J. 740, 743 (A.F.C.M.R. 1989) (citing United States v. Wine, 28 M.J. 688, 691 (A.F.C.M.R. 1989).  Although it would only have to fail one prong to be declared unlawful in the Air Force court system, MARFORPACO 5355.2 fails all three prongs.  First, there is nothing “reasonably in furtherance or connected to military needs” in the order.  Second, the order is certainly not “certain in describing the thing or act to be done or omitted.”  Finally, it is contrary to both established law, in which this conduct is legal, and regulation in SECNAVINST 5300.28D.

Military case law on this topic can be reduced to a few distinct categories.  There are free speech and freedom of religion challenges to orders, which are irrelevant in this context.  In addition, there are mandatory inoculation and safe sex orders that are equally inapposite.  In reviewing the case law, military case law addressing alcohol consumption appears to be the most directly related.  Alcohol is a legal substance, much like “spice,” but commands have tried to regulate its consumption with varying degrees of success.  Only when that regulation is specifically tied to a military purpose are those orders declared valid.  

United States v. Wilson is the seminal case on this topic.  30 C.M.R. 165 (C.M.A. 1961).  In Wilson, the Court of Military Appeals (CMA) ruled that an order to refrain from drinking alcohol at all times was illegal.  The CMA stated: “In the absence of circumstances tending to show its connection to military needs, an order which is so broadly restrictive of a private right of an individual is arbitrary and illegal.”  Id. at 166-67.  The court reached this decision because the order “was to apply in all places and on all occasions.”  Id. at 166.  The Wilson court also found it unpersuasive that this order was issued “for his own good.”  Id.  See also United States v. Stewart, 33 M.J. 519 (A.F.C.M.R. 1991) (holding a “no drink” order given to an airman with an alcohol problem to be unlawful).  


In contrast with Wilson, the CMA ruled in United States v. Blye that prohibiting alcohol for a servicemember on pretrial restriction serves a valid military purpose.  37 M.J. 92, 94 (C.M.A. 1993).  The CMA explicitly distinguished Wilson from Blye.  Id.  The court was convinced that the order in Blye was given with military purpose in mind, especially because the appellant was on pretrial restriction after having been released from pretrial confinement.

In United States v. Roach, the Coast Guard Court of Criminal Appeals (CGCCA) followed Wilson in another case addressing a broad order to refrain from drinking under all circumstances.  26 M.J. 859 (C.G.C.C.A. 1988).  In that case, the CGCCA stated that such a broad order “interferes with private rights or personal affairs.”  Id. at 865.  The Roach decision relied on Wilson to find “an absence of circumstances tending to show a connection to a military need.”  Id.  

The above cited case law shows that an order is unlawful if it seeks to regulate otherwise lawful conduct without a service connection.  The use, possession and distribution of “spice” was lawful in the United States when LtGen Stalder signed MARFORPACO 5355.2.  There is no legitimate tie to service connection for use outside the workplace, or in a way that does not interfere with good order and discipline.  The order as written is as broad as the “no drink” orders in Wilson, Stewart and Roach, and therefore this order is not a lawful order.

4.  Relief Requested.  



The defense respectfully requests the military judge to dismiss the sole charge and its sole specification for failure to state an offense.  

5.  Evidence.  



a.  Appended to this motion is LTC Kulish’s ruling in United States v. Swinford.  Also appended are various articles and internet printouts to help inform the court on this topic.



b.  The defense requests the presence of Dr. Michael Lyman and Dr. Reimar Bruening as expert witnesses per a separate motion also served on the court on 7 June.  



c.  The defense requests the results of substance analysis requested from the government, per another separate motion also served on the court on 7 June.  

6.  Oral Argument.  The defense requests to make oral argument on this motion if this motion is opposed by the government.




S. R. SHINN



Captain, USMC




Detailed Defense Counsel


…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

A true copy of this motion was served on trial counsel and the military judge in hard copy on 7 June 2010.




S. R. SHINN




Captain, USMC









Detailed Defense Counsel
Synthetic Cannibinoids

Controlled Substances
· HU-210 (6aR,10aR)-9-(hydroxymethyl)-6,6-dimethyl-3-(2-methyloctan-2-yl)-6a,7,10,10a-tetrahydrobenzo[c]chromen-1-ol)
Not Controlled Substances
· JWH-018 (1-pentyl-3-(1-naphthoyl)indole)
· JWH-073 (naphthalen-1-yl-(1-butylindol-3-yl)methanone)
· JWH-081 (4-methoxynaphthalen- 1-yl- (1-pentylindol- 3-yl)methanone)

· JWH-210 (4-ethylnaphthalen-1-yl-(1-pentylindol-3-yl)methanone)

· CP 47,497 and homologues (2-[(1R,3S)-3-hydroxycyclohexyl]-5-(2-methyloctan-2-yl)phenol)) 
· HU-211 (dexanabinol, (6aS,10aS)-9-(hydroxymethyl)-6,6-dimethyl-3-(2-methyloctan-2-yl)
-6a,7,10,10a-tetrahydrobenzo[c]chromen-1-ol) 
Auwarter V, Dresen S, Weinmann W, Muller M, Putz M, Ferreiros N. “‘Spice’ and other herbal blends: Harmless incense or cannabinoid designer drugs?” Journal of Mass Spectrometry 2009.
� Judge Erdmann of the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces wrote a robust dissent in United States v. Pope, 63 M.J. 68, 78-80 (C.A.A.F. 2006).  This thorough treatment provides a helpful overview of the state of the law in military courts-martial on this issue.


� “A superior's order is presumed to be lawful and is disobeyed at the subordinate's peril.”  United States v. Moore, 58 M.J. 466, 467 (C.A.A.F. 2003) (citing Paragraph 14c(2)(a) of Part IV of the UCMJ).    


� See paragraph 14c(2)(b) of Part IV of the UCMJ.    


� Tobacco is smoked legally.  So are cloves.  Cloves are a spice and an herb.  Are they regulated?  What if cloves are blended with tobacco?  That would be a legal herbal blend that involves a spice, and it is smoked for its effect on the mind.


� Volker Auwarter, et. al. “‘Spice’ and other herbal blends: Harmless incense or cannabinoid designer drugs?” Journal of Mass Spectrometry, February 2009.





� LTC Kulish cites federal case law extensively in his ruling.  The defense acknowledges that those decisions are nonbinding on this court, but cites this case law to counter the reductio ad absurdum argument:  





When, in a federal prosecution, the government argued that the Controlled Substances Analogues Act, 21 USC § 813, criminalized the distribution of any substance “which has a stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system that is substantially similar to or greater than that of a controlled substance in schedule I or II,” even if the substance did not also possess a “chemical structure substantially similar to the chemical structure of a controlled substance in schedule I or II,” the court rejected that interpretation . “If I adopt the government’s construction . . . alcohol or caffeine would be controlled substance analogues because, in concentrated form, they can have depressant or stimulant effects substantially similar to a controlled substance. . . . [Moreover,] a defendant could be prosecuted for selling a controlled substance analogue even though the alleged analogue did not have chemical structure substantially similar to a schedule I or II controlled substance.” United States v. Forbes, 806 F.Supp 232, 235 (D. Colo. 1992).





The district court rejected the government’s interpretation not only to avoid an absurd result, but also to conform to legislative intent and to ensure that the statute was interpreted in such a way as to define an objective standard of criminality. “The twopronged definition [chemical structure substantially similar to that of a controlled substance as well as depressant or stimulant effects substantially similar to one or more listed controlled substances] “narrows future analogue prosecutions to only those cases where the substance has a chemical structure substantially similar to a schedule I or II controlled substance.” Forbes, 806 F.Supp at 236.





The interpretation of 21 USC § 813 set forth in Forbes has been adopted unanimously by other federal courts who have considered the question, save one district court reversed on appeal. United States v. Hodge, 321 F.3d 429, 433 (3d Cir. 2003)(reversing holding of district court below which holding was contrary to the holding in Forbes, supra, noting, “The District Court in this case read the definition disjunctively, but every other federal court to consider the issue has read it conjunctively”).


United States v. Swinford, Military Judge’s Ruling on Motion to Dismiss at 6.  





� The military purpose must relate to the use of “spice” itself.  The defense knows of no examples where “spice” use led to other forms of misconduct.  
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